IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 73,757

BARRY HOFFMAN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA.

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DWAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. **0125540**

BILLY H. NOLAS K. LESLIE DELK JULIE D. NAYLOR

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. INTRODUCTION

This case is before the Court on appeal of the summary denial of Mr. Hoffman's Rule 3.850 motion. Even though numerous factual issues were raised •• issues classically resolved through an evidentiary hearing in Rule 3.850 proceedings -- the lower court summarily denied the motion without allowing an evidentiary hearing, without making any findings of fact, without ever resolving the factual questions involved, and without attaching to the one-line orders denying Rule 3.850 relief and then rehearing anything from the record that conclusively established that Mr. Hoffman was entitled to no relief. The files and records in this case by no means conclusively show that Mr. Hoffman is entitled to no relief •• to the contrary, the files and records demonstrate that Mr. Hoffman may well be entitled to relief and that he certainly is entitled to the opportunity to present the facts supporting his claims at an evidentiary hearing. This case also involves one of those few instances in which the state attorney's office and circuit court have refused to allow disclosure of law enforcement and state attorney files pursuant to section 119, Fla. Stat. That matter has also been appealed to this Court in a separate but directly related action, and a brief in that regard is being filed in conjunction with this appeal.

B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On September 7, **1980,** Frank Ihlenfeld, a 54 year old narcotics trafficker and Linda Sue Parrish, a 20 year old prostitute were murdered in their motel room at the Ramada Inn in

Jacksonville Beach, Florida. An intensive investigation that included wire taps and undercover operatives was undertaken, and the investigtion focused on James Provost, who had procured the murders. Through a series of events still not fully disclosed to the defense, the investigation ultimately resulted in the arrest of Barry Hoffman, a heroin addict, caught up in the drug world to support his habit. Mr. Hoffman was under the influence of narcotics when apprehended and questioned, and without counsel present gave statements that purported to be incriminating.

а

а

Mr. Hoffman then entered guilty pleas in exchange for concurrent life sentences. Then, without the benefit of counsel, the pleas were withdrawn after Mr. Hoffman refused to testify against Leonard Mazzara. Mr. Hoffman had no counsel present when he was put on the stand at Mr. Mazzara's trial, nor apparently through many hours of meetings with the prosecutor during the proceedings.

Mr. Hoffman was then charged with two counts of murder and one count of conspiracy to commit murder. The defense at trial was one of innocence, that while Mr. Hoffman knew the people involved and had been hired to watch them, he never actually arrived at the Ramada Inn that day and did not participate in the killings. Defense counsel's investigation, however, was woefully inadequate, both for trial and sentencing. Just as significantly, counsel never properly advised or assisted his client during the court of the aborted guilty plea.

The facts relevant to the claims for relief are discussed in the body of this brief, as they relate to the claims presented.

C. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Mr. Hoffman was indicted on two counts of murder on October 28, 1981, and was later charged by information with conspiracy in March of 1982. The cases were consolidated upon the State's motion (R. 37). On June 28, 1982, the Court accepted Mr. Hoffman's pleas of guilty to two counts of first degree murder, and agreed to sentence him to two concurrent life sentences with the conspiracy charge nolle prossed (R. 78). This plea was withdrawn, as discussed in the body of this brief, on September 24, 1982 (R. 52).

The trial took place in January, **1983.** Mr. Hoffman was convicted of one count of first degree murder, one count of second degree murder, and one count of conspiracy (R. 120-21).

The penalty phase was conducted on January 20, 1983. Mr. Hoffman made a brief statement to the jury. No witnesses were presented by defense counsel. The jury recommended death by a vote of nine to three (R. 122).

The court imposed a sentence of death on February 11, 1983 (R. 127). Mr. Hoffman was also sentenced to 100 years imprisonment for the second degree murder conviction (R. 128), and 30 years imprisonment for the conspiracy conviction (R. 140). This Court affirmed on direct appeal. <u>Hoffman V. State</u>, 474 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 1985). Counsel pursued no certiorari proceedings.

On October 2, 1987, Mr. Hoffman timely filed a motion to vacate pursuant to Fla. R. Crim, P. 3.850. The Motion was summarily denied in a one-line order by the circuit court on October 7, 1987. A motion for rehearing was timely filed on

October 22, 1987. This motion was summarily denied on January 17, 1989. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

I. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Hoffman's Rule 3.850 motion. The files and records do not conclusively show that Mr. Hoffman is entitled to no relief. Indeed, no portion of the record was attached to the lower court's one-line orders. Numerous facially sufficient claims were presented to the trial court that alleged facts not "of record," This Court's precedents make it plain that evidentiary resolution is required in a case such as this. The lower court's order should be reversed and this case remanded for proper evidentiary resolution.

11. Mr. Hoffman was unrepresented by counsel during critical stages of the proceedings at which he made decisions crucial to his defense and his life. Mr. Hoffman never waived his right to counsel and consistently requested the assistance of counsel. This case involves a **per se** violation of the sixth amendment's right to counsel and no prejudice need be shown. However, Mr. Hoffman can show that he was substantially prejudiced. An evidentiary hearing is required.

111. The State failed to disclose critical impeachment and exculpatory evidence, in violation of <u>Bradv v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), and its progeny. The State's failures to disclose information continue to this day, as the State has flatly refused to comply with the dictates of Fla. Stat. section 119. This case should be remanded for an evidentiary hearing on the <u>Bradv</u> issue, and disclosure pursuant to section 119, Fla. Stat., should be

ordered.

Mr. Hoffman, a life long substance abuser dependent on IV. numerous brain damaging drugs, was under the influence of narcotics at the time of his arrest and interrogation, and was rendered incapable of knowingly and voluntarily waiving Miranda rights. He in fact believed that he had preserved his right to silence by signing the waiver form provided to him by law enforcement personnel. His mental impairment was of such a severity that any statements made during that time could not have been knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made. His attorney, however, failed to properly investigate and prepare, and therefore rendered prejudicially deficient assistance on this issue. An evidentiary hearing is necessary, on the basis of the facts alleged in the motion to vacate, in order for this claim to be properly resolved.

v. Trial counsel's investigation and preparation were woefully lacking and inadequate. He consequently was not prepared to effectively represent Mr. Hoffman at trial, and Was grossly deficient at sentencing. As discussed in the body of this brief, and as pled below, each of counsel's failures is sufficient to warrant relief. Taken together, there can be no question that Mr. Hoffman's right to a fair trial and an individualized capital sentencing determination were denied by counsel's deficient performance. An evidentiary hearing is required.

VI. During his closing arguments at the guilt-innocence and the penalty phases of trial, the prosecutor intentionally

misstated facts, testified, manipulated evidence, and bolstered the credibility of the government's witness, so infecting the proceedings as to make the conviction and sentence of death fundamentally unreliable. Trial counsel's failure to do anything at all about this pervasive prosecutorial misconduct was prejudicially deficient attorney performance. Here, there was no objection, no motion for mistrial, nothing. An evidentiary hearing is necessary.

VII. The court improperly applied the "cold, calculated, premeditated" aggravating circumstance, and no limiting construction was provided to the jury, in contravention of the constitutional requirements of <u>Mavnard v. Cartwrisht</u>, 108 S. Ct. 1853 (1988), and of what this Court has defined as "cold, calculating, and premeditated" in <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987). Although the Court addressed this issue in Mr. Hoffman's pre-<u>Cartwright</u> direct appeal, it is respectfully submitted that fundamental fairness requires that relief be granted in light of <u>Cartwrisht</u>.

VIII. Mr. Hoffman's trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance during the penalty phase proceedings by failing to object to the trial court's improper instruction concerning the mitigating factors stipulated to by the State and the defense, to the prosecutor's argument which directly contravened the stipulation, or to the judge's bias concerning the mitigating factors applicable to Mr. Hoffman. Counsel's failures resulted in violations of the sixth, eighth, and fourteenth amendments, and an evidentiary hearing is necessary in order for this claim to be properly resolved.

IX. This capital jury was repeatedly misled by instructions and arguments which unconstitutionally and inaccurately diluted its sense of responsibility for sentencing. Appellant recognizes that this Honorable Court has held that <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u> does not apply to Florida capital sentencing proceedings. He respectfully urges, however, that in the interests of fundamental fairness those holdings be revisited. Moreover, defense counsel ineffectively failed to object to the comments and instructions, and an evidentiary hearing is necessary for this aspect of the claim to be properly resolved.

а

а

a

а

ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT I

THE RULE 3.850 COURT'S SUMMARY DENIAL OF MR. HOFFMAN'S MOTION TO VACATE WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING WAS ERRONEOUS AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT.

The lower court summarily denied Mr. Hoffman's claims in a one-line order <u>without</u> conducting any type of hearing, <u>without</u> adequately discussing whether (and why) the motion failed to state valid claims for Rule **3.850** relief (it does), <u>without</u> any explanation as to whether (and why) the files and records conclusively showed that Mr. Hoffman is entitled to no relief (they do not), and <u>without</u> attaching those portions of the record which conclusively show that Mr. Hoffman is entitled to no relief (the record <u>supports</u> Mr. Hoffman's claims). The lower court's order in its entirety reads as follows:

It is, upon consideration, ORDER AND ADJUDGED that the Defendant's Motion To Vacate Judgment and Sentence With Special Request For Leave To Amend should be, and the same is hereby DENIED.

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers, Jacksonville, Duval

County, Florida this 7th day of October, 1987.

а

A motion for rehearing was timely filed by Mr. Hoffman. The rehearing motion discussed the errors in the trial court's disposition. The lower court denied rehearing on January 17, 1989, by an order which stated, in its entirety:

Upon consideration of the Defendant's Motion For Rehearing of his Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence with Special Request For Leave To Amend and the record herein, it is, upon consideration, hereby ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that said Motion For Rehearing should be and the same is hereby Denied.

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers, Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida this 17th day of January, 1989.

The lower court's summary denial of Mr. Hoffman's Rule 3.850 motion was incorrect. Many of the issues presented in the Rule 3.850 motion were of the type plainly requiring evidentiary resolution of facts that are not "of record." Questions relating to the State's failures to provide discovery, questions concerning Mr. Hoffman's capacity to knowingly and intelligently waive <u>Miranda</u> rights during questioning, of the admissibility of any resulting statements, and of counsel's conduct in litigating these issues, questions of trial counsel's deficient performance at both the guilt and penalty phases of trial, questions relating to counsel's failure to appear with Mr. Hoffman at critical stages of the proceedings, and questions concerning counsel's failures during the aborted guilty plea, were all presented by the motion to vacate and all involved matters that must be dealt with in an evidentiary hearing.

Mr. Hoffman also raised claims involving violations of <u>Bradv</u>

v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), and its progeny. The Ihlenfeld/Parrish murder case involved just a small part of an intensive narcotics investigation focused on James Provost. There were many hours of wire taps, many individuals under surveillance and after the murders, many suspects. Most of this information was not and still has not been turned over by the State, even though much of it is exculpatory as to Mr. Hoffman, and in any event has significant impeachment value. Mr. Hoffman has repeatedly requested this information through Fla. Stat. 119.01 et seq., but has been flatly denied access to public records. The documents and facts presented with Mr. Hoffman's Rule 3.850 motion (and more thoroughly discussed in subsequent portions of this brief) present a claim that information that had impeachment value for, and/or was exculpatory as to, Mr. Hoffman was not provided to the defense. The claim involved non-record facts concerning which the lower court allowed no evidentiary resolution. Evidence as to one serious suspect, Maurice "Bubba" Jackson, linked Jackson to Frank Ihlenfield in business and This evidence also provided a witness, David criminal dealings. Jack, to whom Jackson had stated:

a very bad thing had gone down at the Ramada Inn and that it was something that [Jackson] had to do

(App. R). Mr. Jack went on to explain that Jackson was talking about the killing of Frank Ihlenfield and Linda Parrish. As pled in the Rule 3.850 motion, this type of significant information

¹As noted previously, a separate, albeit directly related action involving the State's refusal to comply with requests made for information pursuant to Fla. Stat. section 119 is also before the Court.

was never heard by the jury either through the State's misconduct or through defense counsel's failure to investigate. In either event, the question is certainly one that needs to be resolved at an evidentiary hearing. Surely, whether the State withheld evidence of suspects who <u>confessed</u> to the crime for which Mr. Hoffman was convicted, witnesses who knew the identity of the killers, hair samples that could have eliminated Mr. Hoffman as a suspect, or whether these facts were simply not used by the trial attorney because of inadequate investigation, are matters that must be resolved at a fact-finding hearing.

a

а

а

а

а

а

а

а

As this Honorable Court's precedents and Rule 3.850 itself make clear, a Rule 3.850 movant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless "the motion and the files and the records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850; Lemon v. State, 498 so. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986); <u>State v. Crews</u>, 477 So. 2d 984 (Fla. 1985); <u>O'Callaghan v. State</u>, 461 So. 2d 1354 (Fla. 1984); State v. Sireci, 502 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 1987); Mason v. State, 489 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 1986); Squires v. State, 513 So. 2d 138 (Fla. 1987); Gorham v. State, 521 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 1988). Mr. Hoffman's motion alleged facts which, if proven, would entitle him to relief. The files and records did not "conclusively show that [he] is entitled to no relief," and the trial court's summary denial of his motion, without an evidentiary hearing, was Indeed, the circuit court attached to its therefore erroneous. one-line orders nothing which rebutted Mr. Hoffman's claims.

Mr. Hoffman's verified Rule 3.850 motion alleged (supported by factual proffers) the extensive non-record facts concerning

claims which have traditionally been raised in Florida postconviction proceedings and tested through evidentiary hearings. Mr. Hoffman is entitled to an evidentiary hearing with respect CO these claims: there are **no** files and records which conclusively show that he will necessarily lose. Even if that was what the lower court judge believed, in such instances the judge must attach "a copy of that portion of the files and records which conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief . . . Fla. R. Crim, P. 3.850; Lemon, supra, Otherwise, an evidentiary hearing is proper. The lower court attached no portion of the record, nor addressed any of these matters in his This case involves matters that are not "of record," and order. the circuit court erred in denying an evidentiary hearing and in summarily denying the motion to vacate. Facts not "of record" are at issue in this case; such facts cannot be resolved now by this Court, as there is no record to review. The lower court erred in declining to allow factual, evidentiary resolution.

In <u>O'Callaghan</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court recognized that a hearing was required because facts necessary to the disposition of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim were not **"of** record." <u>See also Vauaht v. State</u>, 442 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1983). This Court has not hesitated to remand Rule 3.850 cases for required evidentiary hearings. <u>See</u>, <u>e.q.</u>, <u>Zeigler v. State</u>, 452 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 1984); <u>Vausht</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Lemon</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Squires</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Gorham</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Smith v. State</u>, 382 So. 2d 673 (Fla. 1980); <u>McCrae</u> <u>v. State</u>, 437 So. 2d 1388 (Fla. 1983); <u>LeDuc v. State</u>, 415 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 1982); <u>Demps v. State</u>, 416 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1982);

а

а

Aranao v. State, 437 So. 2d 1099 (Fla. 1983). These cases control: Mr. Hoffman was (and is) entitled to an evidentiary hearing, and the trial court's summary denials of the Rule 3.850 motion and motion for rehearing were erroneous.

ARGUMENT II

MR. HOFFMAN WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL, AND TO THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS, WHEN CRITICAL STAGES OF THE PROCEEDINGS WERE CONDUCTED WITHOUT COUNSEL.

The sixth amendment guarantee of the right to the assistance

of counsel is beyond dispute:

The Sixth Amendment stands as a constant admonition that if the constitutional safeguards it provides be lost, justice will not "still be done," It embodies a realistic recognition of the obvious truth that the average defendant does not have the professional legal skill to protect himself when brought before a tribunal with power to take his life or liberty, wherein the prosecution is presented by experienced and learned counsel.

Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 462-63 (1938) (footnotes

omitted).

(L)awyers in criminal courts are necessities, not luxuries. . . A defendant's need for a lawyer is nowhere better stated than in the moving words of Mr. Justice Sutherland in <u>Powell v. Alabama</u>:

"The right to be heard would be, in many cases, of little avail if it did not comprehend the right to be heard by counsel. Even the intelligent and educated layman has small and sometimes no skill in the science of law. If charged with a crime, he is incapable, generally, of determining for himself whether the indictment is good or bad. He is unfamiliar with the rules of evidence. Left without the aid of counsel he may be put on trial without a proper charge, and convicted upon incompetent evidence, or evidence irrelevant to the issue or otherwise inadmissible. He lacks both the skill and knowledge adequately to prepare his defense, even though he have a perfect one. He requires the quiding hand of counsel at every step in the proceedings against him. Without it, though he be not guilty, he faces the danger of conviction because he does not know how to establish his innocence." 287 U.S., at 68-69, 53 S.Ct., at 64, 77 L.Ed. 158.

Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 344-45 (1963). The right to the assistance of counsel during critical stages, i.e., when the defendant must deal with the government or the court, is carved in constitutional stone: "The adversarial process protected by the Sixth Amendment requires that the accused have 'counsel acting in the role of an advocate,'" Inited States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 656 (1984), quoting Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 743 (1967), the proceedings are rendered fundamentally unreliable and unfair if a criminal defendant is deprived of the right to counsel at a "critical stage" of the proceedings. <u>Cronic</u>, 466 U.S. at 659.

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