IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Ē	SID .	J. WI	- <i>ITE</i>	5 V
CLER By	K. spi		NE CC	UR

¥.

CASE NO. 73,757 ↓

74740

BARRY HOFFMAN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court did not err in summarily denying Hoffman's Rule 3.850 motion in that the claims raised are either insufficient on their face or are specifically refuted by the record and as such, properly denied pursuant to Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1989).

II.

Hoffman's assertion that he was denied counsel at critical stages is without merit. The failure of counsel to attend a codefendants trial wherein Hoffman was a witness for the State pursuant to a plea bargain does not constitute a critical stage. Moreover, Hoffman's willful reneging on the plea negotiation and his **pro** se motion to withdraw his guilty plea was of his own making and does not constitute a basis for relief.

III.

Hoffman's contention that the failure of the State to comply with his public records request pursuant to Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, does not mandate reversal nor does it constitute a violation of **Brady** v. **Maryland**, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). Hoffman's assertion that he did not make a knowing and intelligent waiver of his Miranda rights with regard to his admissions to police is procedurally barred in that this claim was raised on direct appeal and decided adversely to him. Trial counsel did not render ineffective assistance of counsel in not securing a mental health expert to explain in more detail whether Hoffman knowingly waived said rights.

v.

Trial counsels Nichols and Harris rendered effective assistance of counsel both at trial and at the penalty phases of Hoffman's case. There representation satisfied the standards of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

VI.

The closing arguments of the prosecution at both the guiltinnocence phase and the penalty phase of Hoffman's trial did not infect the results. The comments went unobjected to and constituted fair argument with regard to the facts of the case, statements made by defense counsel and the law applicable to this case.

VII.

Hoffman's Maynard v. Cartwright, 108 S.Ct. 1853 (1988), argument is totally without merit but more importantly, is procedurally barred from further consideration.

IV.

- 7 -

VIII.

Neither the prosecutor nor the trial judge in any way misinformed or misled the jurors with regard to the two stipulated mitigating factors that (a) Hoffman had no significant prior criminal history, and (b) that coconspirators Mazzara and White received life sentences for these murders.

IX.

Hoffman's Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320 (1985), is procedurally barred in that no objections were raised at trial.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ENTERING A SUMMARY DENIAL OF HOFFMAN'S RULE **3.850** MOTION WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING

Rule 3.850, Fla.R.Crim.P., provides that a defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless the motion and the files and the records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief. In his first point on appeal, Hoffman, in summary, details why an evidentiary hearing is Appellee would submit that a majority of the necessary. allegations presented, though couched in terms that counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel, are merely an effort by Hoffman to assert claims which could have been and should have been raised on direct appeal. And either were resolved on direct appeal adversely to him or were not raised at all. In some instances, the allegations are insufficient on their face to warrant review. With regard to Hoffman's Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), issue, this claim is predicated on a Chapter 119, Fla.Stat,, request rather than a "bona fide" Brady issue.

It is submitted that not all Rule 3.850 motions require further evidentiary development as recognized by the rule itself. **Sub judice,** Hoffman's assertions with regard to the effectiveness of his trial counsel at both trial and at the penalty phase of his 1983 trial, mandates summary denial. Appellee would rely on the arguments tendered in opposition to the heretofollow claims in support of the trial court's denial without evidentiary hearing (in summary fashion) of Hoffman's Rule 3.850 motion. In Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1989), this Court observed that a Rule 3.850 motion can be denied without an evidentiary hearing when the motion and the record conclusively demonstrate that a defendant is entitled to no relief, citing Agan V. State, 503 So.2d 1254 (Fla. 1987); O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So.2d 1354 (Fla. 1984). The Court observed:

> . . A defendant may not simply file a motion for post conviction relief containing conclusory allegations that his or her trial counsel was ineffective and then expect to receive an evidentiary 'hearing. The defendant must allege specific facts that, when considering the totality of the circumstances, are not conclusively rebutted by the record and that demonstrated deficiency on the part of counsel which is detrimental to the defendant. The test for determining whether counsel has been ineffective was established in **Strickland** v. Washington, (cite omitted), and is set forth in our opinion in Maxwell v. Wainwright . . .

547 So.2d at 913.

Recently, in a similarly circumstanced case, **Correll** v. **State**, <u>So.</u>2d (Fla. 1990), 15 F.L.W. S 147, this Court observed:

First, he contends that an evidentiary hearing was required on his allegations that his lawyer was ineffective at the penalty phase of his trial. Specifically, Correll asserts that counsel knew or should have known that he had a lifetime history of heavy drug and alcohol usage but failed to introduce such evidence at the penalty phase. He also contends that trial counsel should have introduced available evidence of a deprived childhood.

There is no doubt that counsel was aware of Correll's prior drug and alcohol usage. In fact, Correll testified that he had used alcohol and various kinds of drugs often, though not on a regular basis, throughout his adult life. Correll now submits affidavits from friends which recite the frequent use of an assortment of drugs and argues that counsel was ineffective for failing to present these witnesses.

In response, the State points out that there any drug usage or was no evidence of excessive drinking the night of the murders. The State further points out that Correll told Dr. Pollack, the psychiatrist who examined him prior to trial, that he used alcohol several times a week and that he had experienced with various drugs, although not on a regular basis. Dr. Pollack concluded that he was not legally insane, that he did suffer from brain damage, and that not. neither of the statutory mental mitigating Thus, the circumstances was applicable. State suggests that it was reasonable for trial counsel not to try to portray Correll as a heavy drug user but rather a person who was good to his mother and brothers and one who had found religion and who was unlikely to be dangerous in the future.

In view of the fact that Correll continued to insist that he was not guilty of the crimes, we can understand why counsel may not have wanted the jury to believe that he was an alcoholic and a drug addict. However, because there was no evidentiary hearing on this issue, we do not pass on whether counsel provided ineffective assistance. Rather, we conclude that Correll has failed to meet the second prong of **Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984),** which requires a showing that but for such ineffectiveness the outcome probably would have been different.

Assuming that counsel had introduced all of the proffered evidence of drug use and intoxication, we are convinced that neither the jury nor the trial judge would have been persuaded to arrive at a different result. Viewed in light of the heinous nature of these four murders and the abundance of aggravating circumstances, the additional evidence simply would not have made any difference.

15 F.L.W. at S 148-S 149.

Armed with the following assessment, the State would submit that the trial court did not err in summarily denying Hoffman's Rule **3.850** motion.

POINT II

HOFFMAN WAS NOT DENIED HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL, AND TO THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, AT CRITICAL STAGES OF THE PROCEEDINGS

Hoffman next points to two occasions which he claims he "stood by himself at critical stages of the proceedings at which he was entitled to counsel, and for which there was no waiver of counsel." (Appellant's Brief, page 13). Hoffman goes on to suggest that he "did things and made statements which placed him in the electric chair. When he appeared with counsel, he was guaranteed a twenty-five year prison sentence. When he appeared in motion his death sentence." without counsel, he set (Appellant's Brief, page 13). The two instances for which Hoffman now suggests he is en itled to relief relate to his testimony at his codefendant's trial. The record reflects that on June 28, 1982, at a motion for change of plea hearing, Hoffman, his counsel and the State entered into a plea agreement at which time in exchange for a plea to first degree murder and two life sentences and a nolle prosse on the conspiracy case, Hoffman agreed to testify truthfully at Leonard Mazzara's trial. At that proceeding, Hoffman was specifically told that if he did not abide by the plea agreement, it would be withdrawn and he would be subject to trial. (TR 77, 81). A plea colloquy followed at which time Hoffman admitted that he killed Mr. Ihlenfeld by cutting his throat and that he aided in the murder

of Linda Sue Parrish. The court accepted the plea (TR 80-81), and passed on sentencing until after Hoffman testified. (TR 81). At the plea colloquy, Hoffman was asked whether he was satisfied with his counsel's representation and he said he was. (TR 82).

On September 15, 1982, Barry Hoffman was called as a witness by the State in the trial against Leonard Mazzara. At that time, he testified that he never talked with either Rocco Marshall or Leonard Mazzara about doing any jobs for them. (TR 93). He further stated that he never conspired with either of the aforementioned persons nor did he kill Parrish or Ihlenfeld. He stated that he was not hired to kill anyone and that he did not When asked why he pled guilty, he kill anyone. (TR 94). testified that he did so because he was told that if he didn't he would get the electric chair. (TR 95). At this point, the State requested Hoffman become a court witness. Hoffman stated that he wanted to withdraw his plea. (TR 96). As a court witness, Hoffman testified that Mazzara never paid him money and although in the past he said he did kill people, he never told either Agent Lukepas or Officer Dorn that he killed anyone. (TR 100-101). He stated that he was told by his lawyer that he was going to be convicted no matter what and the best thing to do was to accept the plea and not get the death penalty. The State informed Hoffman that if he did not testify pursuant to his agreement, that he could get the death penalty. (TR 103). He further testified that because everybody was telling him that he was going to get the electric chair that he decided to enter the plea agreement. (TR 104). Hoffman stated that he had no real

- 13 -

knowledge of the murders and that James Provost told him about them. (TR 107). On recross by the State, Hoffman stated that he understood that his testimony violated the plea agreement, that he understood that the plea agreement was now off, and that he understood that the State would prosecute him for first degree murder and seek the death penalty. (TR 108). Hoffman stated that his lawyer advised him to accept the plea because counsel said the State had fingerprints that were found in the room near Mr. Ihlenfeld's body and that his fingerprints would be used against him. (TR 109-110).

Hoffman thereafter filed a **pro** se motion to withdraw his guilty plea and at a hearing thereafter Judge Haddock accepted same. At that same proceeding, Hoffman's counsel, Mr. Nichols, renewed his motion to withdraw from the case, stating that he had talked with Hoffman about it. (TR **113-115**). At that point, Nichols was allowed to withdraw and the State concurred that Hoffman should be allowed to withdraw his guilty plea. (TR **118**). Immediately thereafter, Hoffman was assigned a new attorney, Jack C. Harris.

Hoffman has cited no authority which requires counsel to appear with a defendant in a non-related trial wherein the defendant is a witness. Certainly, at the time Hoffman was to testify at the Mazzara trial, all parties believed that he would testify as expected, that Mazzara had hired him to kill Frank Ihlenfeld. Hoffman's testimony came at a time after he had pled guilty and the court had accepted said plea after a factual predicate had been laid for that plea. Hoffman had admitted his guilt. Counsel was neither required to be present nor was this proceeding a critical stage of Hoffman's trial thus requiring the presence or, for that matter, the waiver of counsel.

Hoffman now asserts that he was placed in jeopardy of receiving the death penalty once he withdrew his plea. That is absolutely correct and in fact the record supports the fact that Hoffman was continually reminded that the failure to testify truthfully at Mazzara's trial per the agreement could result in his going to trial for capital murder and, the death penalty as a possible punishment.

Hoffman contends an evidentiary hearing is needed on this issue. The State submits that no evidentiary hearing is necessary for the record clearly reflects that Hoffman made an agreement, to-wit: plea agreement; he did not testify per the agreement and in fact gave contrary testimony from that of his plea colloquy; he was apprised of the inconsistent statements; he was apprised of the fact that he was now subject to the death penalty; he stated his reasons for entering the plea on the record (that he didn't want to get the electric chair), and as a result of the foregoing he sealed his fate. The presence of Mr. Nichols in the courtroom while Hoffman testified in the Mazzara trial would not have insured any right nor altered the ultimate outcome.

Moreover, Hoffman had every right and indeed exercised his right to withdraw his guilty plea. The record reflects that he spoke with counsel before the proceedings at which time the guilty plea was withdrawn. He could have at that point changed

- 15 -

his mind a second time. Clearly, Hoffman had an agenda and a course of conduct which he followed and to now suggest otherwise belies the record.

Hoffman also asserts that through vindictiveness, the prosecutor sought the death penalty after Hoffman's testimony at the Mazzara trial. The record reflects that throughout the proceedings, the State repeatedly informed Hoffman that he was susceptible to receiving the death penalty should the plea agreement not be satisfied. Hoffman's reliance on Adamson v. **Ricketts, 865** F.2d **1011** (9th Cir. **1988**) (en **banc**), for this proposition is misplaced based on this record.¹

On direct appeal, Hoffman raised this very issue asserting that the death penalty was improper because the State sought the death penalty for punitive reasons aside from the crime for which he was convicted. He argued the death penalty was sought because Hoffman did not give testimony against a codefendant. This Court, in addressing same, found:

> Hoffman's next argument is that the State improperly sought the death penalty to punish him for not giving testimony against a codefendant. In support of this contention Appellant shows us that before trial, in exchange for a promise of a recommendation of

¹ On November 15, **1982**, Hoffman filed a motion to declare that death is not a possible penalty. (TR **67-68**). Therein he asserted that because of the plea agreement, the fact that he testified truthfully, "none of the circumstances concerning the actual crimes charged against defendant, whether aggravating or mitigating, have changed, it is patently clear that defendant is being penalized not for commission of the crimes, but for his failure to testify as desired by the State of Florida, and for his exercise of his right to trial by jury.'' Moreover, defense counsel argued same before Judge Haddock on February **11**, **1983**, in his argument before sentencing. (TR **1215-1220**).

life sentences, he agreed to plead guilty to two first degree murder charges and testify against Mazzara. When Appellant later reneged on his agreement to testify, the State withdrew from the bargain and proceeded to prosecute him on the charges. Appellant's argument is without merit.

Hoffman v. State, 474 So.2d at 1182.

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